

# "MOST PEOPLE I KNOW HAVE GOT ONE"

YOUNG PEOPLE'S PERCEPTIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES











# "Most people I know have got one": Young people's perceptions and experiences of electronic cigarettes.

#### **Authors**

Katie Hardcastle, Karen Hughes, Joanne Worsley Centre for Public Health Liverpool John Moores University 15-21 Webster Street Liverpool L3 2ET

Andrew Bennett, Robin Ireland, Suzanne Sweeney Health Equalities Group 151 Dale Street Liverpool L2 2JH

Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University

March 2014



# Summary and key findings

- Seven focus groups involving 45 young people aged 13-17 were held in youth groups and schools in Cheshire and Merseyside to gain insight into young people's views and experiences of e-cigarettes.
- Discussions identified that awareness and use of e-cigarettes is both common and increasing among teenagers in Cheshire and Merseyside.
- Although some older adolescents appeared to associate e-cigarette use with smoking cessation, generally young people viewed e-cigarettes as a product in their own right, suggesting that many young people use them simply for the sake of it, for fun, or to try something new.
- Participants reported that e-cigarette use is common among young people who have never smoked traditional tobacco cigarettes. This behaviour was criticised by both smokers and non-smokers.
- Rather than the potential health impacts of e-cigarettes or their use where smoking is prohibited, the main focus for young people was on the different flavours and designs of e-cigarettes and the opportunity for users to customise their devices and show individuality.
- Young people in this study showed a real uncertainty and lack of awareness of the
  potential risks and harms associated with e-cigarettes, current and proposed future
  regulation in the UK, and the actual chemical content and functional components of these
  devices.
- A current lack of suitable information for young people was identified by all participants.
   Young people suggested that they would like to receive information on the harms associated with e-cigarette use; their design and manufacture; the chemical content of devices; and current rules and regulations surrounding their use.
- In the absence of such information, young people appeared to be reliant on anecdotal evidence from friends and family members and stories and details presented on the internet to inform their understanding of e-cigarettes. There was no indication that young people questioned the reliability of these sources.
- Despite widespread print, visual and social media campaigns, the majority of participants reported that they had not seen any advertising for e-cigarettes and showed a lack of awareness of advertising and marketing strategies and approaches.
- Findings identify an urgent need for health information on e-cigarettes and for prevention activity to reduce teenage uptake of e-cigarettes among non-smokers.
- Guidance is also needed for teachers, youth workers and parents to support them in discussing e-cigarettes with teenagers and implementing appropriate rules regarding their

# **Contents**

1.	Ir	ntroduction	3
	1.1	Current issues and concerns	3
	1.2	E-cigarette use in young people	4
	1.3	Research objectives	4
2.	M	ethods	4
	2.1	Sample	4
	2.2	Study Procedure	5
	2.3	Data Analysis	5
3.	F	indings	6
	3.1	Prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people	6
	3.2	Reasons for e-cigarette use	7
	3.3	Patterns of e-cigarette use – A gateway to smoking?	8
	3.4	Quality and malfunction	9
	3.5	The chemical content of e-cigarettes	. 10
	3.6	Taste and sensation	. 11
	3.7	Personalisation and choice – How e-cigarettes show individual style	.11
	3.8	Can e-cigarettes cause harm to users?	. 12
	3.9	Harm to others – Is second hand vapour a problem?	. 14
	3.10	O Access to and control of e-cigarettes	. 14
	3.13	1 E-cigarette regulation	. 16
	3.12	2 Available information – What do we know about e-cigarettes?	. 18
	3.13	3 Advertising and marketing	. 19
	3.14	4 The future of e-cigarettes	. 20
4.	D	Discussion	. 20
	4.1	Limitations	.23
5.	C	Conclusions and Recommendations	. 25
Αd	ckno	wledgements	. 26
_	. c		2.0

# 1. Introduction

Recent years have seen a rapid rise in the global sale and use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) – battery operated devices that deliver nicotine via inhaled vapour and can mimic the physical and social aspects of tobacco smoking. Hailed as a healthier alternative to smoking tobacco cigarettes, these devices are available in a range of retail outlets in the UK and are extensively marketed online and promoted on sites such as YouTube and Twitter. With the emergence of a 'vaping' culture in which forums, online communities, interest groups and even some premises are specifically dedicated to the comfort, support and encouragement of e-cigarette users, he public interest is at an all-time high. Evidence suggests that internet searches for e-cigarettes increased by over 5,000% between 2008 and 2010, clipsing searches for more traditional nicotine replacement therapies. With supporters polarising against those who oppose these devices, e-cigarettes are widely discussed by the popular media and have received acclaim and celebrity endorsement.

Due to concerns around the potential impact of this rise in e-cigarettes on children, the Health Equalities Group commissioned the Centre for Public Health at Liverpool John Moores University to explore the topic of e-cigarettes with young people in Cheshire and Merseyside. The work aimed to provide insight into the prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people and their attitudes towards these devices. This report presents findings from a series of focus groups conducted with local young people aged 13-17 years. The report introduces some of the current issues around e-cigarettes and their use in young people (section 1), describes the study methodology (section 2) and presents a detailed account of the views and perceptions of participants (section 3). The discussion provides recommendations for the development of policy and practice and for future research. An accompanying publication\* presents findings from an analysis of data from the 2013 North West Trading Standards survey on e-cigarette access and its relationships with smoking and drinking behaviours among 14-17 year old school children in Cheshire and Merseyside.

#### 1.1 Current issues and concerns

The emergence and growth of the e-cigarette industry has been met with considerable concern as these devices currently evade classification as either tobacco products or medicine and are only regulated in the UK under general product safety regulations. Neither the safety nor efficacy of e-cigarettes has been thoroughly scientifically evaluated, although indications are that as many as half of young adults believe they are safer than traditional cigarettes. Although there is some evidence to suggest that e-cigarettes modestly reduce the desire to smoke cigarettes, the World Health Organization has warned against their use, recognising that although they may be less harmful than tobacco smoking, they are almost certainly more dangerous than medicinal nicotine replacement products and may divert from effective cessation aids. With no standard definition for e-cigarettes and manufacturers use of different designs and ingredients, devices are often sold with ambiguous amounts of nicotine and traces of harmful toxic compounds have been detected in some cartridges. And traces of cartridges leaking, along with the toxicity of high doses of nicotine if ingested have provided particular cause for concern. The long-term effects of e-cigarette use are unknown, although reported short term side effects include mouth and throat irritation, vertigo, headaches and nausea.

<sup>\*</sup>Hughes K, Hardcastle K, Bennett A, Ireland R, Sweeney S, and Pike K (2014). E-cigarette access among young people in Cheshire and Merseyside: findings from the 2013 North West Trading Standards survey. Liverpool: Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University

## 1.2 E-cigarette use in young people

With claims that e-cigarettes are widely advertised using youth-relevant appeals, and a lack of current legislation regarding the sale of these products to children, concerns have been raised that these devices may become widely used by young people and act as a gateway to cigarette smoking for previously non-smoking adolescents. In the National Youth Tobacco Survey (2011-12) in the USA, 9.3% of self-identified e-cigarette users aged 11 to 18 years had never smoked tobacco cigarettes. In general, young people are more likely to try new things, particularly behaviours that involve an element of risk. Adolescence is consistently identified as an important period of risk for the development of life long substance use behaviours. and figures suggest that around 66% of tobacco smokers begin smoking before the age of 18 years. With their colourful designs and variety of flavours, e-cigarettes may provide a more accessible and appealing way for young people who may not like the taste or sensation of tobacco cigarettes to experiment with nicotine. In a recent study of US males aged 11-17, whilst less than 1% of respondents indicated that they had previously tried e-cigarettes, 18% suggested that they would be willing to if offered one by a close friend.

# 1.3 Research objectives

Although awareness of e-cigarettes is increasing, very little is known about use of and attitudes towards e-cigarettes among adolescents in the UK. Understanding the extent, causes and implications of e-cigarette use in young people and identifying their potential impact on tobacco smoking trajectories is therefore important in developing appropriate health and regulatory responses. Using a series of focus groups, this study aimed to gain insight into young people's views and experiences of e-cigarettes in Cheshire and Merseyside.

# 2. Methods

# 2.1 Sample

Focus groups (n=7) were held with adolescents from schools, youth groups and youth services in Cheshire and Merseyside (n=45). Table 1 summarises the location and setting of these groups. Participants ranged in age from 13 to 17 years, with a mean age of 14.8 years. Most participants identified themselves as White British (91.1%) and 66.7% were male. A total of 57.7% (n=26) of participants identified themselves as non-smokers (of tobacco cigarettes), 40.0% (n=18) as current smokers, and 2.2% (n=1) as ex-smokers. Overall, 42.2% (n=19) reported having ever used an ecigarette. Of these, 63.2% (n=12) were also current tobacco cigarette smokers, 5.3% (n=1) were exsmokers, and 31.6% (n=6) indicated they had never smoked a tobacco cigarette. Males made up the majority of both smokers and e-cigarette users (78.5% (n=15) and 73.7% (n=14) respectively).

Table 1. Description of participant groups

Location	Setting	Participants (n)
Ellesmere Port	Small independent school foundation for young people excluded or at risk of exclusion from mainstream education	6
Halton	Social project for young people from deprived backgrounds	8
Knowsley	Drop in youth club & Young Advisors Group	6
Liverpool	Boys Catholic High School	9
St Helens	Youth Community Steering Group	4
Wallasey	Drop in youth club	5
Warrington	Drop in youth club	7

# 2.2 Study Procedure

Focus groups took the form of semi-structured group interviews involving between four and nine participants, in which the principal researcher posed open-ended questions exploring young people's use of and attitudes towards e-cigarettes. Focus groups typically lasted between 30 and 45 minutes and were held at a time and location that the groups would normally convene (i.e. during a school lesson or an evening when a youth club was in session). Participating organisations were recruited through existing local contacts and contacts provided by the Health Equalities Group and the Cheshire and Merseyside Tobacco Alliance.

Organisations that agreed to support the research identified a key contact within the service (e.g. a youth leader or teacher) who took responsibility for recruiting young people to the study. An information sheet was distributed to parents and guardians approximately two weeks prior to the scheduled session and parents/guardians were given the opportunity to opt their child out of the research. Before scheduled sessions began, young people were provided with important study information and reassured of their anonymity and confidentiality. Informed written consent and basic demographic information (age, gender and ethnicity) was obtained from all participants. All focus groups were audio recorded. Full ethical approval for the research was provided by Liverpool John Moores University's Research Ethics Committee.

#### 2.3 Data Analysis

Focus groups were transcribed verbatim, with any identifiable data relating directly to the interviewees anonymised (e.g. their own names, the names of family members or friends, references to their school or residential area). Transcriptions were initially analysed manually by two independent researchers, before being imported into NVivo (version 10) for coding and thematic analysis. Particular attention was paid to instances where young people were in disagreement and responses were compared and contrasted across the different focus groups. The emphasis on each theme was considered in light of how many groups provided data to that theme, how many people within each group contributed to the discussion of topics within that particular theme, and how much energy and enthusiasm was generated during these discussions.

# 3. Findings

In this study, young peoples' discussions of e-cigarettes were found to be focused around three general themes: the e-cigarette device and its features and properties; e-cigarette users and their motivations and experiences; and the wider e-cigarette landscape, including the regulatory environment and society's response to e-cigarettes. Various subthemes emerged within each of these themes, often crossing the boundaries between different general themes. The figure below (Figure 1) provides a visual representation of the relationships between these themes. In the following text, each sub-theme is discussed in detail.



Figure 1. Relationship between key themes and subthemes

The e-cigarette device

#### 3.1 Prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people

Generally participants reported that they knew lots of young people who use or have tried ecigarettes, suggesting that they often see their friends and other members of their peer group with the devices in and around school, outside shops and around town centres. In some cases, reference was made to children as young as 10 years old using e-cigarettes and sharing them amongst their friends. Participants' perceptions of the prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people differed by both age and location however, with older participants (16-17 years old) more likely to frame e-cigarettes as smoking cessation aids and consequently less likely to see teenagers as common users, suggesting instead that they may only occasionally try them. E-cigarette use among young people was described as particularly prevalent in Warrington and St Helens, where use of e-cigarettes was

often associated with alcohol use and social gatherings. Across all focus groups, participants were happy to volunteer information on their experiences of trying or using e-cigarettes, but were much more reluctant to disclose whether or not they currently or have ever smoked tobacco cigarettes. As may be expected, e-cigarette users held different perceptions of prevalence to those who had never used the devices. Whilst almost all e-cigarette users reported common use within their friendship groups, one or two non-users had only family-based reference points for e-cigarette use. There were no participants who indicated that they had not heard of e-cigarettes or did not know what they were.

"Most people I know have got one" Male, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker

"I've tried one. A friend's. At a party when I was a bit drunk...There's a lot in our school" Male, aged 15, St Helens, non-smoker, has tried an e-cigarette

"I do know of quite a lot of young people that are using them, but I also know a lot of older people who are using them as well" Male, aged 17, Halton, non-smoker, has tried an e-cigarette

#### 3.2 Reasons for e-cigarette use

There was an overwhelming sense across all groups that the majority of young people who do use e-cigarettes do so not for the benefits proposed by those who produce and market these products (e.g. for health benefits, to save money, to allow users to intake nicotine in locations where tobacco smoking is prohibited), but simply "for the sake of it", to fit in with or impress their peers, or to portray a certain desired image of themselves. Although participants did not indicate that their friends put any direct pressure on them to try the devices, it was certainly the case that they felt that a young person would be more likely to want to try an e-cigarette if they had friends that were using them. Friendship groups were considered very likely to share e-cigarettes and have collective experiences of their use.

F4: "I think some people can use it to try and quit, and some people can use it just for the fun of it."
F1: "Just to fit in. Like they've seen someone else use it, so oh why not. I've seen someone else so why not" Females, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker and e-cigarette user (F4) and non-smoker (F1)

"They use e-cigarettes because their friends use them and they want to be like everyone else. Plus it's something new, so everyone wants to try it." Female, aged 14, Warrington, non-smoker and e-cigarette user

"It's a safer way of following the crowd really. If their friends are smoking, they can smoke but not harm themselves in any way either" Male, aged 15, St Helens, non-smoker, has tried an e-cigarette

"If the cool kids, like the firm and that, if they're smoking them (e-cigarettes) then people are going to think maybe I'll be cool if I get one." Male, aged 15, Liverpool, smoker and e-cigarette user

Whilst a small minority of participants provided anecdotes of friends or relatives who had successfully given up smoking through the use of e-cigarettes, participants that had tried to use e-cigarettes as a cessation aid themselves reported that it only supported them in cutting down, not in stopping smoking entirely (n=3). Many participants held the belief that e-cigarettes do not work as an aid to stopping smoking as they simply substitute one problem for another and cannot retain a

smoker's interest in the long run, leading to a relapse to cigarette smoking. Times when individuals were consuming alcohol were highlighted as particular situational contexts in which e-cigarettes may not be a sufficient alternative for smokers who are using the devices in an attempt to cut down or quit. Reported beliefs about the (un)suitability of e-cigarettes to aid smoking reduction or cessation were similar for both e-cigarette users and non-users, although e-cigarette users who identified themselves as current or ex-smokers seemed to believe that even if the approach hadn't worked for others, e-cigarettes may still successfully help them to reduce their tobacco smoking in future.

"I only smoke (normal cigarettes) when I'm drinking. Or I have the odd one every now and again." Female, aged 16, St Helens, smoker and e-cigarette user

M2: "You know when you're drunk as well, say if you have a drink, you wanna smoke more."

M5: "You'd do that with fags though."

M2: "Yeah that's what I'm on about, when you're drunk you want fags." Males, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user (M2) and non-smoker (M5)

"I only bought mine to help me cut down. Not to like permanently quit, just to cut down...After people quit smoking they keep using the electric ciggy, so it's not really done that." Male, aged 17, Halton, smoker and e-cigarette user

# 3.3 Patterns of e-cigarette use – A gateway to smoking?

Across all focus groups, participants were emphatic in their accounts of e-cigarette use among young people who have never smoked tobacco cigarettes. For many current smokers, this issue was one that caused notable controversy. Although it was recognised that e-cigarettes may provide an opportunity for young people to try smoking and 'follow the crowd' in a way that is perhaps less harmful and a more pleasurable experience, many participants struggled to understand why a non-smoker would want to use a product that was designed as a substitute to smoking. In one group in particular, smokers conveyed a strong sense of annoyance and cynicism that non-smokers were using e-cigarettes to 'pretend' that they were smokers and portray a false image of themselves as members of the smoking community.

"Well you wouldn't be tempted, because it's not like the people who smoke cigarettes, they get addicted to the nicotine, and the action thing. But people who don't have that, why would they want to try an e-cig if they don't smoke?" Female, aged 14, Halton, non-smoker

F3: "I don't get people that have never smoked in their lives but are smoking them!"

F1: "Because it's nicer than ciggies."

F3: "But they've never smoked a cigarette so how would they know!" Females, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker (F3) and non-smoker (F1)

"There are people in my form that have no experience with smoking or nothing, and I was speaking about my pen (e-cigarette), and he went 'look at mine', and I was like I've never seen you smoke before. Now I'm noticing the people in school with these pens, they're on the rise" Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker and e-cigarette user

The idea that using e-cigarettes may act as a gateway to smoking tobacco cigarettes was a common theme throughout the focus groups and one of the topics that was presented with greater

homogeneity. Many participants felt that using e-cigarettes may introduce young people to tobacco smoking, as their positive experiences of e-cigarette use may result in them to wanting to try a 'real' cigarette or developing a greater need for nicotine that cannot be satisfied by e-cigarette use alone. Some participants also suggested that common use of e-cigarettes (among both young people and adults) may result in younger children, who are unable to draw clear distinctions between e-cigarettes and tobacco cigarettes, normalising smoking behaviour, with the potential for these norms to influence their own attitudes towards, and likelihood of, smoking initiation. Young people that smoked in particular were acutely aware of these issues.

"Because if they get addicted to that (e-cigarette), they're going to eventually get bored of it, like normal smokers get bored of smoking and switch to e-cigarettes. It's going to be the opposite way round. Then kids are going to switch to smoking as they won't get the same kick out of it (e-cigarettes) anymore" Male, aged 15, Warrington, smoker and e-cigarette user

"It's like they're all saying oh it will taste like this, and then they get to the point where they finally buy real cigarettes and then think what have I done, I'm addicted to cigarettes!" Male, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

"I reckon that would make you want to smoke more as well. If you've never smoked before and you try one of them (e-cigarettes), you might think oh I want to see what a cigarette tastes like" Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker

# 3.4 Quality and malfunction

Although e-cigarettes are often marketed as innovative, technological, and sleek or elegant in design, to participants they were more commonly seen as cheap and unreliable, and were referred to as more of a 'fad' product than an important or desirable possession. Many e-cigarette users described instances in which their devices had broken or were lost and not replaced. In direct contrast to the branding and promotion of some e-cigarettes, participants associated the devices with low quality products, discount retailers and, in one case, young people from lower socio-economic groups.

"Like I know loads of people who have bought them, had them for like a few months or something and then just got rid of them. They just buy them to see if they like them, but if it's no good, if it breaks they don't replace them." Male, 17, Knowsley, smoker and e-cigarette user

"There are people that are chavs\* in our school that use them a lot." Male, aged 15, St Helens, smoker and has tried e-cigarettes

"Mine just dropped on the floor and it snapped. So I chucked it at a teacher." Male, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user

During discussions, many e-cigarette users shared anecdotes or stories of instances in which e-cigarettes had malfunctioned, often with negative consequences for the user. These tales provided a source of entertainment for participants and typically did not seem to cause any apparent alarm or immediate concern. In some cases participants who had experience of using e-cigarettes suggested

<sup>\*</sup> A young lower-class person typified by brash and loutish behaviour and the wearing of (real or imitation) designer clothes (Oxford English Dictionary definition)

that these occurrences might not be due to inherent problems with the device, but inappropriate actions by users.

"I had one that blew up. Well it disconnected, there was like the wires and there was the battery and I had to hold them together to get a puff, and then it just went ppssshhh and set on fire so I threw it in the garden." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, e-cigarette user and ex-smoker

"My battery pack exploded on me two weeks ago and oh my god I thought I was going to die. Made the biggest bang...If you've got the tiniest loose wire you may as well throw it away. Mine like, where the button is that you push, mine was wobbly, and me thinking oh yeah it will be alright, just stick some tape on it. Shouldn't have done that. It exploded." Male, aged 17, Halton, smoker and ecigarette user

#### 3.5 The chemical content of e-cigarettes

Overall participants were very aware of the nicotine contained within e-cigarettes, with users and non-users of all ages commenting on the varying levels (mg) of nicotine available and the option of purchasing nicotine-free cartridges. Participants were, however, much more unsure as to what else may be contained within the liquid capsules, and viewed them with a certain amount of scepticism; although there was no clear indication that this limited their involvement with the devices. In one group, a heated discussion was sparked when a participant suggested that the devices contained tobacco. Across many focus groups, participants did not have the confidence to entirely dismiss claims such as this, even if they believed them to be false. Other chemicals that were mentioned as possibly being contained within the liquid cartridges included alcohol and 'car defroster'. All participants had seen or heard of alcohol or cannabis flavoured cartridges and concerns around whether these liquids actually contained alcohol and cannabis were paramount and discussed in all groups. In some cases, younger participants expressed concerns as to whether or not you could develop problems with alcohol or cannabis from using e-cigarettes in these flavours. This highlighted a lack of understanding of both the content of the liquid capsules and the nature of addiction to these substances.

"I don't know what's in them (e-cigarettes), but it's obviously something dodgy." Male, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user

"The defroster. You know the car defroster that you use to thingy, they have them in it, and that's what makes the smoke." Male, aged 13, Warrington, smoker and e-cigarette user

M5: "Doesn't affect your lungs as much."

M2: "It does, it still has tobacco in it."

M1: "How can it have tobacco in it! Tobacco is little brown stuff. It's got nicotine in it, not tobacco!" Males, aged 14 and 15, Liverpool, non-smoker (M5), smoker who has tried e-cigarettes (M2) and exsmoker and e-cigarette user (M1)

"Alcoholics get addicted to drinking a lot, but say you get an alcohol flavour, then if you use it all the time then you get addicted to alcohol. So you become an alcoholic, the same with drugs."

iviale, aged 13, warrington, non-smoker, nas tried an e-cigarett

#### 3.6 Taste and sensation

Participants generally agreed that e-cigarettes provide a very different taste and sensation to that experienced when smoking tobacco cigarettes. The feeling of inhaled vapour on the back of the throat was described as both 'tickly' and 'raspy', and these feelings were often linked to the perception that e-cigarettes are actually more harsh on the throat than tobacco cigarettes. The sensation of smoking an e-cigarette was associated with unpleasant feelings of choking in accounts that participants gave both of their own experiences, and stories detailing the experiences of others. These experiences were often presented as humorous and participants were generally very flippant in their discussion of this potentially very unpleasant sensation.

"I tried a 24 (milligrams of nicotine) and thought my lungs just instantly dropped off. I tried an 18 and it was like choking to death. I stick to like an 8." Male, aged 17, Halton, smoker and e-cigarette user

"It's (the e-cigarette) harsher on your throat...My dad nearly died on it. Nearly choked to death."

Male, aged 15. Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user

Some participants reported having tried e-cigarettes but not enjoying the taste or feeling. In one group in particular, male participants related these experiences to smoking tobacco cigarettes.

"Yeah but to be honest with you, you know when you first try it, you don't like it do you...You carry on just because you can." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, ex-smoker and e-cigarette user

"Loads of people have gone on them and gone off them though, because they just don't taste nice." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

# 3.7 Personalisation and choice – How e-cigarettes show individual style

Despite these negative reactions to the sensation of inhaling vapour from an e-cigarette, participants were very animated in their discussions of the different flavours available. In all focus groups, participants talked in detail about the flavours they had seen or tried, and this degree of choice was put forward as one of the most pervasive benefits or appeals of e-cigarettes by an overwhelming majority of participants. Young people discussed the range of different flavours they had encountered as if they had intentions to 'collect them all' or as if they were seen as badges of honour and could demonstrate that someone was a credible e-cigarette user. Discussions of flavours also seemed to represent the idea of e-cigarette use as a shared experience, with the peers of e-cigarette users often talking about the users' experiences of different flavours and brands as if they were their own experiences.

M2: "In this one I've got red bull, and grape. Mixed together. I've had blueberry, blackcurrant..."

M1: "Strawberry."

M4: "Red bull."

M2: "I've already said that."

M3: "Melon."

Males aged 15, Ellesmere Port, e-cigarette user (M2) in discussion with smokers

Participants discussed the opportunity that e-cigarettes provide for young people to make choices that show their individuality, both in terms of the flavours they choose but also the colours and accessories they select for their devices.

"The colours draw you in as well. So say you're like ooh purple or something. Because mine is all different colours, which made me want to spend more money. It goes blue, then green." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, ex-smoker and e-cigarette user

"Yeah it's the idea that you can have your own, you can have a special unique pen, like colours and patterns and flavours. It can also be that idea of being able to build your own cigarette for yourself. So that could be appealing. Try more flavours and show individualism." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"It's like you can get them customised to your tastes really." Female, aged 14, Knowsley, non-smoker

These aspects of choice did, however, also raise concerns as to the appeal that e-cigarettes may have for young children, as participants drew parallels between e-cigarette users wanting a certain flavour or brand and children wanting the latest toy. Here participants suggested that the design and flavours of e-cigarettes may appeal to children, but also that the way in which teenagers or adults covet these devices can be considered somewhat child-like in its impulsivity and immediacy. This belief was reflected in the discussions of both smokers and non-smokers, and those who had or had not used e-cigarettes.

"You can get them in different colours, so it's like a kid seeing a new toy and being like I want that one, whereas it's an adult or a teenager seeing it and saying I want this colour or that colour."

Female, aged 16, Wallasey, non-smoker

"That (flavour) is just making kids want it more because think about a kid that's addicted to chocolate and he sees the chocolate flavour." Male, aged 14, Warrington, smoker and e-cigarette user

#### 3.8 Can e-cigarettes cause harm to users?

One of the biggest areas of uncertainty among participants was the potential for harm as a result of e-cigarette use — a topic that was discussed in detail in all focus groups and often divided opinion. Interestingly those young people who smoked, or who had used e-cigarettes, displayed no greater certainty. Age did however emerge as a relevant factor. In the three focus groups that contained predominantly 16 and 17 year olds, participants were generally more inclined to see e-cigarettes as a less harmful option (when compared with tobacco cigarettes), although in each of these groups there were also participants who believed that the harms were probably the same for both. Participants indicated that a lack of research around e-cigarettes might mean that the true extent to which they could cause harm is not yet known.

"I think they're way less harmful, because in cigs, as well as tobacco, they put like cyanide in them, and rat poison, and some chemicals that treat the tobacco to make it burn for as long as it does. But an e-cig doesn't really have half as much as what they have in one cig." Male, aged 15, St Helens, non-smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"I've got friends that use them and I don't see the point in them, because you don't know if they are actually safe or not because there's not much background on them." Male, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

F1: "There isn't really enough research, so how can we know they're not harmful."

F3: "They're probably just as harmful as smoking cigarettes."

F1: "Perhaps less harmful but still quite."

Females, aged 14, Knowsley, non-smokers

"Yeah but no one knows what's in them, it's just, you put your liquid in, and how does it even work? That liquid like burns and what's in the liquid, is it like chemicals, is it toxic?" Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

Some of the suggested harms that participants felt could result from e-cigarette use included (lung) cancer and respiratory diseases, a gathering of water in the lungs, and poisoning from the ingestion of the toxic liquid contained in e-cigarette cartridges. Participants' 'knowledge' of these harms was largely drawn from anecdotes from friends or family members, or stories they had read on forums and wikis<sup>†</sup> on the internet. There was no real indication that participants felt cause to question the reliability of these sources, and information was generally taken at face value and relayed with a degree of certainty.

"If you take too much of it, it will fill your lungs with water...There was a picture and it explained what happened and what it had done to him. He's been smoking it all day until the battery has gone dead, and his lungs have been filling up with water because of it. I thought how could you do that, but obviously it has somehow." Male, aged 17, Halton, smoker and e-cigarette user

"Some girl is in hospital because of the electric cig. I don't know her name, but one of my mates, one of her relatives she's in hospital because of it. So there are some dangers to it. I think it's because she had a faulty e-cig and the liquid came out and she kind of swallowed some of it." Female, aged 16, St Helens, smoker and e-cigarette user

Participants were generally in agreement that the use of e-cigarettes could result in an addiction to nicotine, although they were often unsure as to whether the devices are more or less addictive than tobacco cigarettes. In two groups in particular, comments on the relative risk of developing an addiction to nicotine from using e-cigarettes prompted more in depth discussions about the nature of addiction itself, with young people conveying some scepticism as to the physiological impacts of addiction (something that may more commonly be thought of as dependence).

"To be honest with you I think they are addictive... When I hadn't had my pen in 24 hours, I needed me pen. So I believe it is addictive." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker and e-cigarette user

"No, they're not actually addictive, they're mentally addictive. It's like your mind telling you that you need it but you don't <u>actually</u> need it." Male, aged 15, Warrington, non-smoker, has tried ecigarettes

<sup>†</sup> A website or database developed collaboratively by a community of users, allowing any user to add and edit content (Oxford English Dictionary definition)

# 3.9 Harm to others – Is second hand vapour a problem?

A further issue that clearly divided opinion among young people and highlighted a significant lack of suitable information and understanding was the potential for e-cigarettes to cause harm to others, specifically through the inhalation of second hand smoke. Some young people were confident that the emission from an e-cigarette is simply steam, causes no harm to other people and is therefore one of the key benefits of e-cigarettes over tobacco cigarettes. Participants in one group suggested that this may, in fact, make e-cigarettes more acceptable to parents when there are other young children in the family that would otherwise risk exposure to harm. Alternatively, many participants surmised that there may be effects on others, just to a lesser extent than the effects of passive tobacco smoking. Further participants had an entirely different understanding and argued that the risks of second hand smoke were equally as relevant when considering e-cigarette use. In some cases, participating boys recalled experiences of having experimented with e-cigarettes in an attempt to breathe in the vapour that had been exhaled by somebody else.

"I don't think there's any problem with them really because it's not smoke, it's just like steam really or water." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, non-smoker

"I don't think it would affect you as much as the real ones. But it might do a little bit, the nicotine might still come out." Female, aged 13, Halton, non-smoker

"It still counts as passive smoking as it's still got a bit of nicotine in it. Plus is still has that smoke or steam, so if people breathe that in, they'll still be getting bits of nicotine." Male, 17, Halton, smoker and e-cigarette user

"My mate was trying to breathe in the smoke after I blew it out and he was having none of it, so I don't think it really works." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, ex-smoker and e-cigarette user

#### 3.10 Access to and control of e-cigarettes

There was consensus among participants that it is very easy for young people to access e-cigarettes and many participants reported having purchased e-cigarettes from markets, stalls and shops without being asked to provide age identification. Typically participants felt that as shop owners were simply out to make money, they would serve any young person without question. There was, however, also a sense that it is easy for young people to make themselves look and appear older to secure age-restricted purchases from even the more conscientious of vendors. As well as having family members or older friends provide them with e-cigarettes (as many participants who regularly used e-cigarettes reported they did), participants also identified proxy purchasing through approaching strangers outside of shops as a reliable strategy for access. Young people felt that the cheap disposable e-cigarettes that are available from single-price retailers were the most accessible and provided an opportunity for young people to try something at a lower cost that may then persuade them to spend more money sourcing the 'real thing'.

"There's loads of shops that will serve kids isn't there. You just have to go in and find out. They say no, they say no. Try the next one." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"They are easy to get hold of. Like we've got loads of 13 or 14 year olds now smoking, like they could easily get hold of one. Because people now these days look a lot older then what they actually are. So it would be easier for them." Female, aged 16, St Helens, smoker and e-cigarette user

"Because it's not only shops that are selling them. Say like, our local mobile shop, they sell them there as well. So if they're not like familiar with the kid on the estate, and they think oh he looks about 16, then they could probably get away with it couldn't they." Male, aged 17, Halton, non-smoker, has tried an e-cigarette

"A lot of people ask older people to buy them for them. And a lot of people nowadays have a lot of people older than them that will already buy them drinks." Male, aged 13, Warrington, smoker and e-cigarette user

"Stand outside the shop. Sit there for about 10 minutes and wait for someone to come and just say to like everyone that goes past, will you go in there and get me such and such or whatever they want." Male, aged 14. Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

In many cases, participants reported deceiving their parents to acquire money to spend on ecigarettes and their accessories. Purchasing the starter kits and associated products was considered initially quite expensive, and some participants who had tried but did not regularly use e-cigarettes suggested that they would buy a device in future if they could afford it. Once a good brand had been purchased, the fact that e-cigarettes are cheaper in the longer-term was suggested as a key benefit and something that may make them appealing to young people who do not have much expendable income. There was still, however, some disagreement that the frequency with which e-cigarettes break and would need to be replaced would result in users spending more money than intended. Although considered more cost effective by non-users, many e-cigarette users seemed to object to the premise that their devices were cheaper than cigarettes, perhaps wishing to avoid the associations with single-price retailers and low quality products that were discussed previously.

"No right coz I've got a friend and she's really addicted to them and she got the first one, she had a go of her mum's while she was out. Then she decided will you help me save up my dinner money, and she saved up her dinner money to get one and then she sent her cousin, who's in year 11 to go get her one." Female, aged 14, Warrington, non-smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

M3: "Just say you're going to the cinema. Go into town and buy one."

M1: "Say Mum can I have some money. Go to your Nan's. Nan have you got any money, my mum never gave me any. Normally works."

M3: "I got the two of mine in town. Like when I said to my mum I'm going to town. I got money to go to town and I bought what I wanted then bought two of them. Some people's Mums will buy them for them."

M1: "My Mum bought me one."

Males, aged 14, Liverpool, ex-smoker and e-cigarette user (M1) and smoker who has tried e-cigarettes (M3)

Participants who used e-cigarettes suggested that another key benefit of these devices was that they were more discrete and could be used at home or at school with much lower risk of detection than tobacco cigarettes. The school context was one that raised particular debate and divided many of the focus groups as some young people believed that e-cigarettes were actually allowed in school,

and others felt that teachers were just more inclined to look the other way so as not to be seen to be discouraging something that could be used as an aid to stop smoking.

"They're easier to conceal, even if they see you with them, they don't know what it is, because they come in different shapes and sizes and designs anyway." Male, aged 15, St Helens, non-smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"In school, under the desk you can do it. But you can't spark up a real bifta can you." Male, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user

"I don't think the teacher's gone oh we're going to allow these, I think someone's just used them, explained the situation like oh they're not harmful to anyone else and the teacher has probably said to them its ok just don't use it as often. That's all that's probably been said." Female, aged 16, Wallasey, non-smoker

#### 3.11 E-cigarette regulation

Participants' discussions revealed a general lack of clarity around whether or not age restrictions are imposed on the sale of e-cigarettes. Although many participants identified retailers who stated that you must be aged 18 and over to purchase e-cigarettes from them, very few felt that these restrictions were actually adhered to. Interestingly, in two groups, participants expressed uncertainty as to the actual laws surrounding the sale of e-cigarettes to young people but reasoned that if retailers say you must be 18, that this must, in fact, be the law in the UK. There was, however, some variation in presumed age restrictions, with participants in some cases reporting beliefs that young people must be at least 16 years old to buy e-cigarettes, and in other cases asserting that challenge 21 schemes are in place. Participants who had never smoked or never tried e-cigarettes knew very little of the age restrictions for either product.

"You have to be sixteen to buy them. But I still went with my mum anyway, just in case." Female, aged 16, St Helens, smoker and e-cigarette user

"You're allowed to smoke e-cigarettes at sixteen but you can't buy them until you're eighteen. If your parents wanted you to stop smoking, they could go and buy them for you." Male, aged 17, Knowsley smoker and e-cigarette user

"There's a shop in town, that shop that he was talking about, they used to sell them for people over the age of twelve, but now they've put it up to sixteen." Male, aged 13, Warrington, smoker and ecigarette user

Participants were aware of bans and restrictions on e-cigarette use in a number of places, including on public transport, at youth clubs, in cinemas and shops, and inside some bars, pubs and restaurants. Although they reported on the presence of signs on some buses, generally this understanding was taken from word of mouth. Uncertainty in one focus group sparked a debate as to whether or not e-cigarettes could be used on aeroplanes and overall a real lack of clarity over current regulation was identified.

Participants raised concerns that a lack of regulation could place e-cigarette users at greater risk of harm as e-cigarettes may not be tested or approved and therefore may not be safe to use or may

contain unknown amounts of nicotine. Some participants, however, indicated a belief or faith in the systems that they felt were usually in place to protect consumers by suggesting that e-cigarettes must have been tested in order for them to be sold as widely as they currently are.

"It could be really bad for you because they're not approved are they." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"Obviously they have done tests. They can't sell them without having tests done. There's no way that could be allowed." Female, aged 16, Wallasey, non-smoker

Young people expressed overwhelming support for the development of more detailed regulations for e-cigarettes, although diverse motivations for this support were identified. On the one hand, some participants felt there should a clear set of rules specifically for e-cigarettes as they are not the same as tobacco products and do not carry the same risks. On the other hand, a large number of participants felt that as e-cigarettes are an 'associated product' of tobacco cigarettes, the same rules should apply to both. Some participants suggested that allowing e-cigarette use in certain places (e.g. on buses or in bars) may give smokers the incorrect impression that they too should be able to smoke anywhere. They also raised concerns that widespread e-cigarette use in family-oriented environments such as restaurants may encourage young children to see this behaviour as normal. Without exception, participants agreed that e-cigarettes should be banned in eating establishments.

"I think they should be allowed indoors because they are not harmful to other people." Female, aged 16, St Helens, smoker and e-cigarette user

"The same rules should apply because they're the same thing aren't they. They've both got nicotine in them." Male, aged 17, Knowsley, smoker and e-cigarette user

"There's goods and bads as to why they should be banned in places. Because if they were allowed in public places, then more people might be attracted to doing it, and it might encourage people more. People who shouldn't, like kids." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"They say that it's the safer option for indoors but I don't know. If smoking is not allowed then it's like a sub-class of smoking, so I reckon that just shouldn't be allowed in doors anyway because it will give people ideas that they can smoke them so they will go and get them and waste money." Male, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

Generally young people were concerned over what they perceived to be a sense of fairness and equity. Whilst participants who used e-cigarettes often felt that tighter controls would be unfair as e-cigarette use does not affect others, many participants who identified themselves as smokers were keen to see e-cigarette users treated the same as themselves. Some non-smokers also expressed concerns that the presence of someone smoking an e-cigarette may be unfair on smokers who may experience stronger cravings as a result of seeing that person using the e-cigarette whilst being unable to smoke themselves. Some participants did, however, recognise that the freedom to use them in areas in which traditional smoking is prohibited may be one of the key benefits or appeals of e-cigarettes.

"I wouldn't mind someone using an e-cig next to me, but it would probably affect people that smoke normal ciggies. I know people who just smoke normal ciggies and they get cravings really easily. If they see someone next to them even just doing the action of smoking, it could like torment them or make their cravings even worse." Male, aged 15, Halton, non-smoker

"I think it gives a bigger incentive for people to stop smoking or turn to the electric cig anyway. As well as being healthier, you can smoke it pretty much anywhere, apart from places like in some shops. It's just still pretty much water vapour that comes out after they've smoked it, so it doesn't do any harm to anyone else." Male, aged 15, St Helens, non-smoker, has tried e-cigarettes

"That's the selling point of e-cigarettes, you can smoke them inside...For people that smoke its really inconvenient if you're sat somewhere and you know you're not allowed to smoke." Female, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

#### 3.12 Available information – What do we know about e-cigarettes?

Although participants who had used e-cigarettes were able to describe some of the information provided when these devices are purchased, this information was almost exclusively instructional and provided little or no insight into what is in the liquid cartridges and what inhalation of this liquid can do to the body.

"When you buy them from the proper shop the man like sits you down and tells you about it, like what to do with it. He tells you (as a user) how much he's saving on them and how he feels better off with them now." Male, aged 17, Knowsley, smoker and e-cigarette user

"When you go and buy them he tells you like put it on charge, when it goes green you take it off, if it gets hot don't smoke it, leave it for a bit. Stuff like that." Male, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, smoker and e-cigarette user

"There's not a lot of information. There's information about them, but there's not a lot of information about what's in them, what they do, and how they can help you stop (smoking)." Female, aged 16, Wallasev. smoker and e-cigarette user

Perhaps due to the ubiquity of smoke-free messages and health warnings relating to tobacco cigarette smoking, young people expressed surprise at the lack of information around e-cigarettes and felt that this absence was cause to be suspicious. Interestingly, in one case when information on the potential side effects of e-cigarette use was provided, the user herself was somewhat dismissive of the issues presented, much to the apparent consternation of her peers.

F4: "In the shop I went to in the market, there was side effects on erm the thing, it was just like drowsiness and all that. It wasn't anything major."

F1: "So you still thought you'd buy that?"

F4: "Yeah."

F1: "Even though it said it can cause that?"

F4: "It's not anything, it's nothing major..."

F1: "Its minor, but it's still a side effect..."

F4: "If it makes you a bit sleepy than that's fine, it's not like a proper drug."

Females, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker and e-cigarette use (F4) and non-smoker (F1

Box 1 provides a summary of the information that young people suggested they would want to know about e-cigarettes. Whether or not e-cigarettes can cause cancer was a particular cause for concern.

#### Box 1. Information that young people would like on e-cigarettes

- What can e-cigarettes do to you / what are the harms associated with their use?
- What chemicals do e-cigarettes contain?
- What makes e-cigarettes flavoured?
- Where and how are e-cigarettes made and who or what were they tested on?
- Why were e-cigarettes first introduced?
- What are the current rules on e-cigarettes / where are you allowed to smoke them?

# 3.13 Advertising and marketing

Although young people reported seeing some advertising for e-cigarettes in shops, on television and at football matches, these were typically isolated sightings and only a fraction of participants showed any awareness of what are currently quite widespread advertising and marketing campaigns. Even among those who did identify particular posters, retail displays or television adverts, recall was not very strong and participants were only able to discuss these media in imprecise detail. Participants did not discuss or report seeing online advertising (including through social media) or identify any instances of product placement or celebrity endorsement. Generally participants' discussions showed very limited awareness of advertising and marketing strategies which may suggest that the young people in this sample were not very informed or sophisticated consumers of the various forms of advertising. In one group, participants believed that advertising for e-cigarettes was not seen as it was actually not allowed.

"You're not allowed to advertise cigarettes on the telly, so you wouldn't be allowed to advertise electronic ones. I reckon that's why you don't see them." Female, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

When asked whether or not they thought e-cigarettes should be advertised, young people were generally unsure. A few participants did, however, suggest that e-cigarette advertising should only be targeted at adults and should therefore only appear on television at certain times of day (i.e. after the watershed). Participants also saw advertising as an opportunity to convey more information on the content of e-cigarettes.

"Probably stick to magazines that are more appropriate for people who are over 18, like TV magazines and stuff like that. Not even posters. I don't think they need advertising because everyone knows where they are and what they are." Male, aged 16, Wallasey, smoker

"It should be advertised, but not in the way that it is, because it's being advertised now saying they're good, you should smoke them. But what it should say instead in, instead of saying they're good for you, they should say what's in them and that." Male, aged 14, Liverpool, smoker, has tried ecigarettes

# 3.14 The future of e-cigarettes

When thinking about the e-cigarette landscape of the future, participants reflected on the idea that e-cigarettes are just a fad or a phase and will not necessarily be a valued product in years to come. As well as the idea that tighter regulations will be brought in that will reduce the appeal of these devices, young people also suggested that at some point, once more is known about the risks associated with their use, e-cigarettes will be found to be harmful and removed from UK markets altogether. In discussing what might happen in the future, participants often drew parallels with the way in which public opinion and understanding, norms and social acceptance of smoking has changed over time.

M1: "I reckon they'll end up saying that you get mouth cancer."

M6: "I think they'll end up taking them out of the shops...I reckon it will just go. It's just a bit of a phase that's going on."

Males, aged 15, Ellesmere Port, non-smoker (M1) and smoker (M6)

F2: "Smoking was glamorised in the 1920s and that's what caused everyone to smoke. There used to be like telly adverts which promoted smoking saying it wasn't bad for you and it was good for your health and stuff like that. That's basically what's happening with e-ciggies now, so it's just repeating itself."

F4: "I think that is what's going to happen. Like no one knows much about what's in it and the side effects and all that. But later when they discover that there is, then it will be banned probably."

Females, aged 16. Wallasey, smokers (both) and e-cigarette user (F4)

#### 4. Discussion

This study aimed to provide preliminary insight into the views of young people in Cheshire and Merseyside on the use, appeals, benefits, and risks or potential harms of e-cigarettes. Their awareness of e-cigarette advertising, the current regulatory frameworks and existing research and information in the public domain was also explored in an attempt to better understand how relevant these devices are in contemporary youth culture and how well-informed local young people are about the controversies that surround them. Participants showed a great deal of interest in the topic of e-cigarettes and presented with a willingness to discuss their personal experiences and opinions. Although young people may not have previously been asked about their perceptions of e-cigarettes in a formal setting (such as for research purposes), it was evident that discussions around these devices and experiences of their use form part of the social milieu of young people, with a dynamic vocabulary to support these conversations. Young peoples' willingness to discuss their experiences with e-cigarettes is an interesting contrast to the reluctance they showed in talking about their experiences of smoking tobacco cigarettes. This may reflect the general anti-smoking climate in the UK.

Discussions with participants provide a strong indication that awareness and use of e-cigarettes is both common and increasing among this population. At least two participants in every focus group reported that they use or had tried e-cigarettes, and in one particular group these participants made up a majority. As well as participants that had tried e-cigarettes on isolated occasions by borrowing

devices from friends or family members, or perhaps purchasing cheap disposable products from single-price retailers, some participants were regular e-cigarette users who were able to discuss their patterns of use, purchasing habits, and brand preferences at great lengths. Existing data on the prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people elsewhere in the world provides a picture in which a notable number of young people are aware of these devices and some, particularly smokers, have tried them. However, findings from this study and the accompanying analysis of Trading Standards North West survey data - showing that one in eight (12.7%) 14-17 year old schoolchildren from Cheshire and Merseyside reported having accessed e-cigarettes - suggest that e-cigarette use may actually be more common among young people in England than has previously been thought, particularly as interest among non-smokers continues to grow.

The opportunity for e-cigarettes to act as a gateway product and introduce young people who have never smoked to nicotine and subsequently tobacco smoking has been raised as a concern by health professionals. 18, 20, 31 This is a claim that e-cigarette companies dispute, stating that their products are targeted at adult smokers. Evidence from the USA suggests that one in eleven e-cigarette users have never smoked conventional cigarettes, <sup>21</sup> while a survey from France places this figure closer to a third. 32 UK figures from 2013 provided by Action on Smoking and Health (ASH) suggested that ecigarette use in young people was confined to those who currently smoke or have previously smoked, with only 1% of young people who have never smoked reporting having tried an ecigarette.<sup>33</sup> In the Trading Standards North West survey data analysis, 2.4% of Cheshire and Merseyside respondents that had never smoked tobacco cigarettes had accessed e-cigarettes; however as most survey participants were non-smokers these individuals accounted for one in eight (12.3%) of all those that had accessed the devices.<sup>30</sup> Participants in the focus groups considered the gateway effect of e-cigarettes as being a very real concern, citing numerous cases of their friends or people from their schools trying and owning e-cigarettes when they have never before smoked a tobacco cigarette. This was a common theme across all focus groups and something that was raised by smokers, e-cigarette users who were also previous or current smokers, and non-smokers alike.

Although some older participants did clearly associate e-cigarette use with trying to cut down or give up smoking, generally young people in this sample did not seem to frame e-cigarettes as a cessation device, but more as a product in their own right. Typically participants felt that young people used e-cigarettes just for the sake of it or for fun. As debate as to the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a smoking cessation aid continues, <sup>11, 13, 34</sup> it seems that these concerns are not as relevant to young people as concerns about the safety of devices and the potential for harm to others through second hand smoke. Although e-cigarettes can be thought of as having a mimetic relationship with tobacco cigarettes that maintains the prominent visual cue of smoke, for most participants the main emphasis of their discussions around e-cigarettes seemed to be about the different flavours and designs available, features that clearly separate e-cigarettes from traditional tobacco cigarettes.

In contrast to their understanding of the health and social impacts of tobacco smoking, young people showed a real uncertainty and lack of awareness around the potential risks and harms associated with e-cigarettes, current and proposed regulation in the UK, and the chemical content and functional components of these devices. Similar findings have been reported among young adults in the USA where, although there were some key differences in the way e-cigarettes were viewed (the devices were perceived as "high tech" and modern in this sample), there was uncertainty surrounding the harmfulness of e-cigarettes compared with tobacco cigarettes and a reported lack of information and understanding about the ingredients and health impacts.<sup>19</sup>

Concerns have also been expressed about the poor quality of devices, <sup>15, 35</sup> something that participants in this study discussed at length, while little is known about the impact of e-cigarette vapour on others, <sup>36-38</sup> and young people were polarised in their opinions of this potential for harm. Unlike the conventional wisdom that surrounds public opinion and awareness of tobacco smoking, <sup>39</sup> the uncertainties outlined by young people in Cheshire and Merseyside are, in many cases, reflective of uncertainties held by other young people, lay adults, and even those working in health, research and policy-related fields. Specifically, from discussions with teachers and other contacts that supported the research team in arranging focus groups, it was apparent that many individuals who work with young people do not feel adequately equipped to discuss the risks or benefits of ecigarette use and lack precedent for implementing policy to control young people's use of these devices in schools, youth groups and other settings. A wider lack of understanding and information on e-cigarettes among society as a whole was recognised by all participants and seemed to provide cause for concern.

In most cases, participants appeared to be reliant on a combination of hearsay, stories and anecdotes to inform their understanding and opinions of e-cigarettes. They often recalled stories they had heard from friends or family members, particularly referencing incidents in which ecigarettes had malfunctioned or caused harm to users. Many young people also discussed information that they had seen on the internet, typically presented in wikis or discussed in blogs or specialist forums. The internet, friends and advertisements have been identified as the main sources of awareness in previous research, 3, 40, 41 with evidence from internet search query surveillance suggesting that e-cigarettes are a popular search term.<sup>5, 6</sup> All information was seemingly approached with a certain degree of naivety, in that participants generally appeared to take this information at face value and were willing to accept and relay details without cause to question the reliability of the information or its source. Participants who were users themselves and retold stories of people who had suffered negative health effects as a result of their e-cigarette use commonly suggested that the harms experienced were not due to an inherent problem with e-cigarettes themselves, but due to their improper use by certain individuals. A particular naivety was also highlighted by comments and discussions that suggested an overriding confidence in the systems that participants believed were in place to protect and support people's health and wellbeing, such as age restrictions or rigorous testing.

With their range of colours and flavours, fashionable imagery and celebrity endorsement, concerns have been raised that e-cigarette are being widely advertised using youth-relevant appeals.<sup>28</sup> For example, a television advert for e-cigarettes that has been recently been aired in the UK has come under fire for its overt sexualisation<sup>42</sup> and controversy has surrounded the televised coverage of an American awards ceremony that showed well-known celebrities using the devices during the event.<sup>43</sup> Perhaps surprisingly however, participants' lack of awareness appeared to extend to the advertising and marketing of e-cigarettes, with the majority of participants reporting that they had not seen any advertising for the devices. Although participants specifically reported that they had not seen advertisements on television for e-cigarettes, many did comment on presentation stands within retail outlets and signs or posters outside such premises, but did not seem to identify that these were also forms of advertising. Participants expressed beliefs that there was simply no need to advertise e-cigarettes as everybody already knows they exist, suggesting a critical lack of awareness of advertising and marketing strategies. Clearly participants felt that they were not being influenced by e-cigarette advertising. This appears to contradict evidence that suggests young people's purchasing intentions and behaviours are heavily influenced by advertising.<sup>44</sup> For example, studies

with young people have demonstrated an association between alcohol advertising and marketing exposure and subsequent alcohol drinking behaviour.<sup>45, 46</sup> With the current pervasiveness of ecigarette advertising, it will be important to establish the real extent of advertising exposure among youths and the impact of this media content on their purchasing behaviours.

Despite their confusion over regulations that currently govern the sale and use of e-cigarettes, participants were clear and concordant in the view that e-cigarettes can be easily accessed by young people. This was largely attributed to irresponsible vendors and the success of deploying approaches that have previously been used to circumvent age restrictions on tobacco and alcohol products. For conventional smoking, perceived ease of accessibility is thought to increase the risk of smoking initiation in adolescents, <sup>47</sup> suggesting that young people may also be more inclined to take up e-cigarette use if they believe they can readily purchase these devices, even when underage. A strong global evidence base also supports the association between tobacco retail outlet density and cigarette use in young people, particularly when outlets are in close proximity to schools. <sup>48-50</sup> With participants suggesting that e-cigarettes are appearing everywhere and are readily available in local shops, markets and petrol stations, it will be important to establish if such an association exists for e-cigarette use in this population.

Finally, along with ease of access, young people's susceptibility to smoking has been shown to be associated with lower parental monitoring or involvement and relaxed parental attitudes towards smoking. First Participants in this study felt that, compared with traditional cigarettes, use of ecigarettes was not only more acceptable to those in positions of authority (i.e. parents and teachers), but also easier to conceal, thus allowing young people greater freedom over their own use. Although it has been suggested that youth disclosure is actually more instrumental in parent's knowledge of teens' activities than active monitoring efforts by parents, these findings may suggest that ecigarette use could develop in young people with relatively little parental knowledge or control. This may carry important implications for efforts to equip parents with the knowledge and skills to talk to their children about e-cigarette use and its effects.

#### 4.1 Limitations

It is important to acknowledge that participants self-selected for this study by turning up to take part in focus group sessions, potentially introducing bias in the sense that groups comprised young people who had already shown a basic understanding of e-cigarettes and a willingness to take part in discussions about them. However, participants did, in many cases, demonstrate a range of different opinions and beliefs that were often in contrast to their peers, suggesting that participation in the study appealed to a diverse range of young people. Inherently the nature of the focus groups introduces the possibility for other sources of bias, either as a result of existing or arising relationships between group members, or a bias introduced by the physical presence of the researcher. For the former, efforts were made to create safe environments for the focus groups in which all participants were given the opportunity to contribute, without fear of being singled out or criticised by peers. Participants were also reminded of the confidentiality of the sessions. In the case of the latter, clear steps were taken both during the focus groups and during the analysis to reduce the likelihood of researcher bias. This included: using open-ended or semi-structured questions that allowed participants to lead the discussions rather than being led by the researcher; having codes and themes developed by two independent reviewers; actively seeking out diversity across opinions;

and quantifying the importance of different themes through an assessment of the frequency with which they were discussed, both within and between groups.

Focus groups began almost exclusively with a discussion of the prevalence of e-cigarette use among young people, with participants commenting on how common they felt e-cigarette use was among their peers and who they thought a typical e-cigarette user might be. A picture emerged from these discussions of many young people owning and regularly using e-cigarettes, and many more trying and experimenting with the devices. It has, however, previously been suggested that for adolescent smoking and drinking behaviours, young people typically overestimate or exaggerate peer involvement. Thus it may be the case that participants were misperceiving group norms within their friendship groups, schools or communities, as well as perhaps embellishing stories of their own use as a way of showing off to or entertaining peers.

Based on the small scale of this research study, efforts have been made to prevent the generalisation of findings beyond the limits of the data. What these data do provide, however, is useful insight into the perceptions of young people, and a starting point from which to develop more detailed research into the causal factors and trajectories for e-cigarette use in this population.

# 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Findings from this study suggest that e-cigarettes are a prominent part of youth culture in Cheshire and Merseyside; discussed, tried and used by many young people, often in an attempt to fit in with a particular group or form a certain social identity. Although many have had experiences with e-cigarettes, there is a clear lack of understanding among young people as to the health implications of e-cigarette use, both for users themselves and for those around them. Uncertainties also surround the safety of these devices and their efficacy as smoking cessation aids.

Based on findings from this study and the accompanying analysis of Trading Standards North West survey data, the following recommendations are made:

- Information should be developed for young people on the potential risks and harms associated with e-cigarette use; the chemical content of e-cigarettes; e-cigarette testing, including safety and quality issues; and current and proposed regulations surrounding their sale and use.
- Interventions that aim to challenge young people's views that everyone is using e-cigarettes may
  be useful. While use is high in some population groups, overall seven out of eight young people
  had never accessed e-cigarettes.
- Prevention work addressing the uptake of e-cigarettes by non-smoking young people should be considered a priority.
- Wider educational approaches should be used to provide young people with the skills they need
  to critically appraise information that is presented online or in the press, and become more
  informed media consumers.
- Guidance should be developed for schools and youth services to provide them with the tools they need to talk to young people about e-cigarette use and advice on developing policies addressing their use.
- Guidance and information should also be developed for parents and carers who can support ecigarette education with young people in the home.
- With age restrictions on the sale of e-cigarettes to under-18s imminent, it will be important to
  ensure that parents and other adults are aware of any related legislation regarding proxy
  purchasing. Parents, other family members and proxy purchasers recruited outside shops are
  already key sources of access to e-cigarettes for young people.
- Future implementation of the Trading Standards survey should consider collecting further information on e-cigarette use, identifying use and purchasing of e-cigarettes separately and identifying whether e-cigarettes were used before or after tobacco cigarettes.
- In addition to survey data, school and community based stop smoking services should consider developing data collection systems to identify the role of e-cigarettes in young people's uptake and quitting of tobacco cigarettes.

# **Acknowledgements**

This study was funded by the Cheshire and Merseyside Tobacco Alliance and the Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University. The authors are very grateful to the Health Equalities Group for their support with this study. Sincere thanks are extended to all those who helped organise focus groups and to all the young people that gave up their time to take part and share their views.

#### References

- 1. De Andrade M, Hastings G, Angus K, Dixon D, Purves R. The marketing of electronic cigarettes in the UK. London: Cancer Research UK; 2013.
- 2. Hua M, Yip H, Talbot P. Mining data on usage of electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) from YouTube videos. *Tobacco Control* 2013; **22**(2): 103-6.
- 3. McQueen A, Tower S, Sumner W. Interviews with "vapers": implications for future research with electronic cigarettes. *Nicotine & tobacco research : Official journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco* 2011; **13**(9): 860-7.
- 4. Bell K, Keane H. Nicotine control: E-cigarettes, smoking and addiction. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2012; **23**(3): 242-7.
- 5. Yamin CK, Bitton A, Bates DW. E-cigarettes: a rapidly growing Internet phenomenon. *Annals of internal medicine* 2010; **153**(9): 607-9.
- 6. Ayers JW, Ribisl KM, Brownstein JS. Tracking the rise in popularity of electronic nicotine delivery systems (electronic cigarettes) using search query surveillance. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2011; **40**(4): 448-53.
- 7. Grana RA, Glantz SA, Ling PM. Electronic nicotine delivery systems in the hands of Hollywood. *Tobacco Control* 2011; **20**(6): 425-6.
- 8. Grana RA. Electronic cigarettes: A new nicotine gateway? *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2013; **52**(2): 135-6.
- 9. Cobb NK, Byron MJ, Abrams DB, Shields PG. Novel nicotine delivery systems and public health: The rise of the 'E-cigarette.'. *American Journal of Public Health* 2010; **100**(12): 2340-2.
- 10. Pepper JK, Brewer NT. Electronic nicotine delivery system (electronic cigarette) awareness, use, reactions and beliefs: a systematic review. *Tobacco Control* 2013; Online first, doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2013-051122.
- 11. Bullen C, McRobbie H, Thornley S, Glover M, Lin R, Laugesen M. Effect of an electronic nicotine delivery device (e cigarette) on desire to smoke and withdrawal, user preferences and nicotine delivery: randomised cross-over trial. *Tobacco Control* 2010; **19**(2): 98-103.
- 12. Vansickel AR, Eissenberg T. Electronic cigarettes: Effective nicotine delivery after acute administration. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2012; **15**(1): 267-270.
- 13. Etter J-F, Bullen C. Electronic cigarette: users profile, utilization, satisfaction and perceived efficacy. *Addiction* 2011; **106**: 2017-28.
- World Health Organization. Questions and answers on electronic cigarettes or electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS). 2013.
   <a href="http://www.who.int/tobacco/communications/statements/eletronic\_cigarettes/en/">http://www.who.int/tobacco/communications/statements/eletronic\_cigarettes/en/</a> (accessed 03/02/2014).
- 15. Trtchounian A, Talbot P. Electronic nicotine delivery systems: is there a need for regulation? *Tobacco Control* 2011; **20**(1): 47-52.
- 16. Westenberg B. Evaluation of e-cigarettes. St Louis, MO.: Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug valuation and Research, 2009.

- 17. Goniewicz ML, Hajek P, McRobbie H. Nicotine content of electronic cigarettes, its release in vapour and its consistency across batches: regulatory implications. *Addiction* 2013; **109**(3): 500-507.
- 18. Cobb NK, Abrams DB. E-cigarette or drug-delivery device? Regulating novel nicotine products. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2011; **365**: 193-5.
- 19. Choi K, Fabian L, Mottey N, Corbett A, Forster J. Young adults' favorable perceptions of snus, dissolvable tobacco products, and electronic cigarettes: Findings from a focus group study. *American Journal of Public Health* 2012; **102**(11): 2088-93.
- 20. Wagener TL, Siegel M, Borrelli B. Electronic cigarettes: achieving a balanced perspective. *Addiction* 2012; **107**: 1545-8.
- 21. Corey C, Wang B, Johnson SE, et al. Notes from the field: electronic cigarette use among middle and high school students United States, 2011-2012. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 2013; **62**: 729-30.
- 22. Ling PM, Glantz SA. USing tobacco-industry marketing research to design more effective tobacco-control campaigns. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2002; **287**(22): 2983-9.
- 23. Leather NC. Risk-taking behaviour in adolescence: a literature review. *Journal of Child Health Care* 2009; **13**(3): 295-304.
- 24. Kandel DB, Logan JA. Patterns of drug use from adolescence to young adulthood: I. Periods of risk for initiation, continued use, and discontinuation. *American Journal of Public Health* 1984; **74**(7): 660-6.
- 25. DuRant RH, Smith JA, Kreiter SR, Krowchuk DP. The relationship between early age of onset of initial substance use and engaging in multiple health risk behaviors among young adolescents. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 1999; **153**(3): 286-91.
- 26. Henderson NL, Payne C, Phelps A, & Ryley A. Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2012. London: Health and Social Care Information Centre, 2012.
- 27. Pepper JK, Reiter PL, McRee AL, Cameron LD, Gilkey MB, Brewer NT. Adolescent males' awareness of and willingness to try electronic cigarettes. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2013; **52**(2): 144-50.
- 28. Lee S, Grana RA, Glantz SA. Electronic cigarette use among Korean adolescents: a cross-sectional study of market penetration, dual use, and relationship to quit attempts and former smoking. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2013; **in press**.
- 29. Goniewicz ML, Zielinska-Danch W. Electronic cigarette use among teenagers and young adults in Poland. *Pediatrics* 2012; **130**(4): e879-e85.
- 30. Hughes K, Hardcastle K, Bennett A, Ireland R, Sweeney S, Pike K. E-cigarette access among young people in Cheshire and Merseyside: Findings from the 2013 North West Trading Standards survey. Liverpool: Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University, 2014.
- 31. de Andrade M, Hastings G. Tobacco harm reduction and nicotine containing products: University of Sterling and Cancer Research UK, 2013.
- 32. Dautzenberg B, Birkui P, Noel M, Dorsett J, Osman M, Dautzenberg M-D. E-cigarette: a new tobacco product for schoolchildren in Paris. *Open Journal of Respiratory Diseases* 2013; **3**: 21-4.
- 33. Action on Smoking and Health. Use of e-cigarettes in Great Britain among adults and young people (2013). <a href="http://ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH\_891.pdf">http://ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH\_891.pdf</a>, 2013.
- 34. Popova L, Ling PM. Alternative tobacco product use and smoking cessation: a national study. *American Journal of Public Health* 2013; **103**(5): 923-30.
- 35. Etter JF. Electronic cigarettes: a survey of users. BMC Public Health 2010; 10: 231.
- 36. Flouris AD, Chorti MS, Poulianiti KP, et al. Acute impact of active and passive electronic cigarette smoking on serum cotinine and lung function. *Inhalation Toxicology* 2013; **25**(2): 91-101.
- 37. Schripp T, Markewitz D, Uhde E, Salthammer T. Does e-cigarette consumption cause passive vaping? *Indoor Air* 2013; **23**(1): 25-31.

- 38. McAuley TR, Hopke PK, Zhao J, Babaian S. Comparison of the effects of e-cigarette vapor and cigarette smoke on indoor air quality. *Inhalation Toxicology* 2012; **24**(12): 850-7.
- 39. Arnett JJ. The Myth of Peer Influence in Adolescent Smoking Initiation. *Health Education & Behavior* 2007; **34**(4): 594-607.
- 40. Dawkins L, Turner J, Roberts A, Soar K. 'Vaping' profiles and preferences: an online survey of electronic cigarette users. *Addiction* 2013; **108**(6): 1115-25.
- 41. Cho JH, Shin E, Moon SS. Electronic-cigarette smoking experience among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2011; **49**(5): 542-6.
- 42. The Independent. 'Put it in my mouth': Viewers outraged by apparent reference to oral sex in VIP e-cig advert. 2013. <a href="http://www.independent.co.uk/news/media/advertising/put-it-in-my-mouth-viewers-outraged-by-apparent-reference-to-oral-sex-in-vip-ecig-advert-8982918.html">http://www.independent.co.uk/news/media/advertising/put-it-in-my-mouth-viewers-outraged-by-apparent-reference-to-oral-sex-in-vip-ecig-advert-8982918.html</a> (accessed 03/02/2014).
- 43. The Telegraph. Golden Globes criticised for 'glamourising' e-cigarettes. 2014. <a href="http://www.telegraph.co.uk/culture/golden-globes/10572917/Golden-Globes-criticised-for-glamourising-e-cigarettes.html">http://www.telegraph.co.uk/culture/golden-globes/10572917/Golden-Globes-criticised-for-glamourising-e-cigarettes.html</a> (accessed 03/02/2014).
- 44. Lovato C, Watts, A., & Stead, L.F. Impact of tobacco advertising and promotion on increasing adolescent smoking behaviours. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011; (10): 1-45.
- 45. Anderson P, de Bruijn A, Angus K, Gordon R, Hastings G. Impact of Alcohol Advertising and Media Exposure on Adolescent Alcohol Use: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 2009; **44**(3): 229-43.
- 46. Smith LA, Foxcroft DR. The effect of alcohol advertising, marketing and portrayal on drinking behaviour in young people: systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *BMC Public Health* 2009; **9**: 51.
- 47. Doubeni CA, Li W, Fouayzi H, DiFranza JR. Perceived accessibility as a predictor of youth smoking. *Annals of Family Medicine* 2008; **6**: 323-30.
- 48. Scully M, McCarthy M, Zacher M, Warne C, Wakefield M, White V. Density of tobacco retail outlets near schools and smoking behaviour among secondary school students. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 2013; **37**(6): 574-8.
- 49. Chan W, Leatherdale S. Tobacco retailer density surrounding schools and youth smoking behaviour: a multi-level analysis. *Tobacco Induced Diseases* 2011; **9**(1): 1-7.
- 50. Henriksen L, Feighery EC, Schleicher NC, Cowling DW, Kline RS, Fortmann SP. Is adolescent smoking related to the density and proximity of tobacco outlets and retail cigarette advertising near schools? *Preventive Medicine* 2008; **47**(2): 210-4.
- 51. Cottrell L, Li X, Harris C, et al. Parent and adolescent perceptions of parental monitoring and adolescent risk involvement. *Parenting* 2003; **3**(3): 179-95.
- 52. Forrester K, Biglan A, Severson HH, Smolkowski K. Predictors of smoking onset over two years. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2007; **9**(12): 1259-67.
- 53. Lacey RE, Cable N, Stafford M, Bartley M, Pikhart H. Childhood socio-economic position and adult smoking: are childhood psychosocial factors important? Evidence from a British birth cohort. *The European Journal of Public Health* 2011; **21**(6): 725-31.
- 54. Kerr M, Stattin H, Burk WJ. A reinterpretation of parental monitoring in longitudinal perspective. *Journal of Research on Adolescence* 2010; **20**(1): 39-64.
- 55. Thombs DL, Wolcott BJ, Farkash LGE. Social context, perceived norms and drinking behavior in young people. *Journal of Substance Abuse* 1997; **9**(0): 257-67.
- 56. Perkins HW, Meilman PW, Leichliter JS, Cashin JR, Presley CA. Misperceptions of the norms for the frequency of alcohol and other drug use on college campuses. *Journal of American college health* 1999; **47**(6): 253-8.

# March 2014

Centre for Public Health
Liverpool John Moores University
Faculty of Education, Health and Community
Henry Cotton Building
15-21 Webster Street
Liverpool L3 2ET
UK

ISBN 978-1-908929-57-0









